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A secret, magical place


WHAT WAS BEHIND the wall and the wire? The local people knew. A cluster of large and handsome buildings, most of them built in the Gothic style before World War I and all of them now resembling an abandoned medieval French village. There were fine courtyards, too, and an old swimming pool, and dilapidated tennis courts, and a remnant garden—once grand and kempt, now wild and sprawling. One of the largest trees was a venerable oak, planted almost 150 years ago. An arc of overgrown meadows connected the buildings and the garden to the banks of a sweeping bend in the Yarra River.


From time to time the locals ventured through cracks in the wall or gaps in the wire. They took cuttings from the garden’s unruly roses and seedlings of its rare tomatoes. They picnicked in the grounds and the riverside meadows, finding refuge in the remarkable quiet that was broken only by the uncanny ring of bellbirds. The most adventurous visitors invaded the old buildings or played clandestine games of twilight tennis on the derelict courts.


This mysterious site occupied a heart-shaped peninsula that was bounded by the Yarra to the south-west, the south-east and the northeast. The opposite bank was steep and heavily wooded, mostly with tall eucalypts, but also wattles and other native trees and shrubs: a striking semicircle of urban bushland just 4 kilometres from the centre of a large city.


Covered walkways, stained glass, a fine chapel, a solemn cloister. These and other features of the buildings and grounds gave away their former life. The site had once housed a busy religious community: the Convent of the Order of the Good Shepherd. Now, though, the nuns and their wards had gone and the site had been reduced to a kind of inner-urban land bank, suspended in time, lost in the too-hard basket.


Central Melbourne may have been nearby, but the peninsula felt a million miles from Collins and Bourke streets. Families and school groups visited the neighbouring Children’s Farm—formerly the convent’s larder—to meet goats and rabbits and peacocks. Cyclists and runners sped by on the recently opened riverside bike path. People from the neighbourhood walked dogs and took strolls. Otherwise, there was little passing traffic.


Margot Foster was one passer-by. A producer at ABC Radio National, she lived in William Street, a few blocks from the old convent site. In 1997 she was walking with her son and her dog along St Heliers Street on the site’s northern edge when a large sign stopped her in her tracks. Evidently the place was about to be transformed. A property developer had a new vision for the unique site’s 6.7 hectares.


From 1990, the developer had traded as ‘Australian Housing and Land’, or ‘Australand’ for short. That name was somewhat misleading. In its corporate communications, the company trumpeted its Australian heritage, which extended back to 1924 with the founding of TM Burke Pty Ltd. Now, though, the company was majority owned and controlled by a Singapore government body, CapitaLand; it would soon seek a dual listing on the Australian and Singaporean stock exchanges.


According to the Australand vision, a redeveloped ‘St Heliers Convent’ would be an exclusive, high-density residential enclave. By remaking the old structures and pulling other ones down, and by building large new ones in the gaps and around the edges, Australand would create 289 residential units. One of the proposed buildings, a six-storey tower, would overlook the Children’s Farm and the river. The other buildings included rows of three- and four-storey townhouses along the riverside path. Several existing buildings would retain just their facades. Vaunted features of the redevelopment proposal included a boat landing and a four-hole ‘chip-and-putt’ golf course, slated for the French Meadow.


This kind of closed-off, high-density residential development—in which repurposed heritage buildings were blended with modern and utilitarian ones—was altering neighbourhoods across Melbourne. Big developments were changing the shape and fabric of the inner city, Southbank, South Carlton, the inner east, the inner west and the bayside suburbs. But the Australand proposal was unusual for its scale and ambition.


Amanda Stone also saw the big sign on St Heliers Street: ‘Australand Is Coming’. So did Jo Kinross. Word spread about what Australand and the state government’s Urban Land Authority had in mind. People in the community were eager for more information. The residents of Abbotsford and nearby suburbs wanted to understand what was happening in their neighbourhood.


In 1997, the use of email wasn’t widespread and social media platforms were embryonic. The concerned residents shared information in low-tech ways, such as by letter and phone and in person. Thanks to these technologies, Abbotsford was home to a highly effective bush telegraph. With speed and efficiency, the residents swapped snippets of knowledge and the beginnings of ideas about what could and should be done. They also contacted others, in search of more information to share and act upon. Foster spoke to media colleagues. Her fellow residents put the word out among Melbourne’s architects, archaeologists and conservators.


The formal planning process involved some new players. Just three years earlier, the state government had created the City of Yarra by amalgamating the former inner-suburban municipalities of Collingwood, Fitzroy and Richmond, plus parts of Carlton North, Alphington and Fairfield. Now, the new council had the job of preparing a critical document that would pave the way for Australand’s redevelopment: Planning Amendment number L54.


The planning amendment process was enshrined in Victorian legislation. As part of the process, Australand’s representatives had to talk to affected residents. On 24 November 1997, the developer fulfilled this requirement in the most minimal way possible. By letter drop, it notified as few as six households and businesses immediately to the west of the old convent site about the amendment process and the opportunity to attend public information briefings.


Psychologist Sue Bannerman was one of the Clarke Street residents who received a letter from Australand. She lived at number 13, ‘Osborne House’, built in 1864. When the letter arrived, she was at her front gate chatting to a neighbour. Bannerman looked inside the envelope and some details jumped out at her, especially the proposed ten-storey tower on the convent car park. She then read the whole letter carefully and spoke to other neighbours.


On the Sunday after Bannerman received the letter, a few people were gathered around her kitchen table to talk about what was proposed and what they might do about it when they heard a knock at the door. It was Robyn Williams, the residents’ ward councillor. She didn’t know Bannerman, but had heard on the grapevine that Sue’s kitchen was the place to be.


Williams shared a critical piece of information. The proposed redevelopment wasn’t a fait accompli. The site could be used for housing only if it received approval from the local council. The nearby residents wouldn’t have to throw themselves in front of bulldozers—or at least not yet.


Williams emphasised the scale and significance of what was afoot. ‘This is really important,’ she said to the residents around the table. ‘You have to get organised.’ Then she gave them practical advice on how to do just that.


Thanks to Williams, and to the Australand briefings, the residents began to understand the gravity of the situation. The attendees at the briefings didn’t like what they heard: the scale of the proposal and its likely impact on the people of eastern Abbotsford were staggering. Using the bush telegraph, they alerted as many other people as they could.


By these means, Williams and the concerned residents called a public meeting to discuss the proposed development. Five days after the Australand briefings, more than 100 people gathered on the weedy, gravelly car park at the northern edge of the convent site, between St Heliers Street and Johnston Street.


The meeting was unanimous: Australand was in La La Land and the redevelopment had to be stopped. The gathered residents resolved to launch a public campaign. They would form the St Heliers Convent Action Group, and they would do what they could to save the precious, magical, secret place that was Melbourne’s green heart.
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It began with lava


FOR MILLIONS OF years there were active volcanoes to the north and west of where Melbourne now stands. Molten lava flowed implacably outward from the volcano fields to form a basalt plain. At its south-eastern edge, the plain met ancient sandstone and mudstone and siltstone. This frontier defined the course of a river. The Yarra River.


In the last Ice Age, the Yarra was of much greater extent than it is today. Through what is now Port Phillip Bay and The Heads, it ran out to join the Barwon River and, in what would later become northern Tasmania, the Tamar. Ultimately the rising sea levels that made Tasmania also helped make the Yarra.


For the local Wurundjeri people—one of the five tribes of the Indigenous Kulin Nation—the river was of great cultural significance. The Wurundjeri tell of how two ancestral headmen, Bar-wool and Yan Yan, made the river by cutting through barriers with axes, thereby emptying a great mountain pool into the bay. Thereafter, the river was central to daily life. People drank from it and lived on its banks. When travelling, they carried Yarra water in possum-skin bags.


Over the span of tens of thousands of years, the Abbotsford peninsula was an important meeting place for the Indigenous people of south-eastern Australia. Set in a naturally enclosed amphitheatre, the peninsula was immediately downstream from an ancient crossing point near what is now Dights Falls. The region was home to many native vertebrates, including fish, platypuses, koalas, wombats, wallabies, kangaroos, echidnas, quolls, emus, blue-tongues and snakes—plus a great variety of plants. Seals and dolphins forayed upriver from the open ocean and the bay to catch fish and explore the fresher water.


Ideal for hunting and fishing and food collection, the rich river flats and deep water met many of the people’s needs. On land, the Wurundjeri caught kangaroos and possums. In the water, they caught eels and bream and perch. Nothing was wasted. The people sharpened mussel shells to scrape possum skins, and used echidna quills for sewing and to make necklaces. Riverside trees were sources of seeds and resins. Riverside vines were dried and twisted to make strong and versatile rope.


The first Europeans to venture into inland Victoria also used the river. In 1802, Governor Philip Gidley King ordered Charles Grimes, the newly appointed surveyor-general of New South Wales, to survey the countryside in the immediate vicinity of Port Phillip. The surveyor’s expedition was of the utmost importance as other countries besides Britain had eyes on this section of coast. The expedition would help forestall possible foreign interest in the Bass Strait area, especially from the French.


In February 1803, Grimes and James Fleming mapped vegetation and surveyed the Yarra. Fleming camped with the Wurundjeri people below the ancient crossing place and sowed seeds there. The expeditioners soon left the region, but over the following decades their countrymen would be back, and in large numbers.


The next European visitors would become household names and street names and school curriculum names: Hume and Hovell (1824), Charles Sturt (1830) and Edward Henty (1834). In 1835, fifteen citizens from Van Diemen’s Land formed the Port Phillip Association (originally the Geelong and Dutigalla Association) to acquire land from the Indigenous peoples of the mainland’s south-east coast. In May of that year, John Batman sailed from Launceston on the Rebecca. After entering Port Phillip and anchoring at Indented Head, he sailed to the mouth of the Yarra.


Soon after, the Wurundjeri headman Bebejern and seven other Indigenous leaders reportedly ‘signed’ Batman’s ‘deed of Melbourne’. The Indigenous Australian culture was a verbal one: the Indigenous signatures weren’t signatures at all, and the ‘deed’ was unconscionably one-sided. But by this means, more than 500,000 prime, verdant and culturally redolent acres (202,000 hectares) were ‘traded’ for a modest bounty of blankets, flour, tomahawks, knives, scissors, looking glasses, handkerchiefs and shirts.


That same year, a misunderstanding gave the Yarra its modern name. John Wedge was Batman’s surveyor. At the old falls near today’s Southbank, Wedge was with some Indigenous people when they said, ‘Yarra Yarra’ (‘Yarrow Yarrow’ is what he wrote in his notebook). Only later did Wedge and others realise that the people were referring to the movement of the water over the falls, not to the river as a whole—which the people actually called Birrarung or Brahrung, the ‘river of mists’.


In March 1837, Governor Sir Richard Bourke arrived at Port Phillip. Accompanying him was the surveyor Robert Hoddle. Bourke directed that a town be laid out, and appointed Hoddle as senior surveyor. By the end of April, Hoddle’s plan for the new town of ‘Melbourne’ was lodged at the government survey office in Sydney. The centrepiece of the plan—on land about 5 kilometres from the Abbotsford peninsula—was Hoddle’s iconic grid of wide streets and narrow lanes.


The following year, Hoddle and his staff surveyed both sides of the Yarra near Abbotsford and subdivided it into uniform allotments of 25 acres (10 hectares), except where natural features made uniformity impossible. In this way, Hoddle enabled the first land releases that expanded Melbourne beyond the grid-like urban centre. The allotments were sold as ‘rural retreats for gentlemen’ and were approved for subdivision.


Major Henry Smyth of Sydney purchased Crown portions 77 (23a) and 64 (12a), totalling 35 acres (14 hectares), on the Yarra at Abbotsford. In 1840, John Hodgson leased part of this riverside estate from Smyth. Two years later, the Hon. Isaac Erskine Murray bought Smyth’s whole estate and further divided it into riverside ‘farmlets’.


John Orr was a businessman, pastoral pioneer and politician. An alderman in the first Melbourne City Council of December 1842, he would also be a founding member of the Victorian parliament. In July 1842, he purchased ‘Abbotsford Estate’: seven picturesque acres on the Clarke Street edge of the peninsula’s subdivision.


In the same year, Edward Curr purchased the neighbouring property on the peninsula’s easternmost side. Curr, like Orr, was active in colonial politics. A member for the Port Phillip District in the New South Wales Legislative Council, he led the 1840s campaign to separate the district from New South Wales. Curr’s property consisted of around 16 acres that were divided into orchards, ornamental gardens and a large paddock. It was here that he built a fine home, ‘St Heliers’. His daughter Elizabeth, who was eight years old when she arrived in Melbourne, later wrote that St Heliers was a delightful property. She recalled that visitors from the Melbourne township ‘seemed to look at the garden as a sort of promised land’ and that her father acquired two roan horses and a carriage from London, which he used to travel to town for his business and political activities.


In 1843, Orr built the equally fine ‘Abbotsford House’. The name harked back to the home of the Scottish novelist and poet Sir Walter Scott. In 1811, Scott had bought ‘Newarthaugh’, a mountain farm that sat ‘on a bare haugh and bleak bank by the side of the Tweed’. The local people called the property ‘Cartleyhole’ or ‘Clarty Hole’, but Scott renamed it ‘Abbotsford’, ‘after the ford across the Tweed below the house used in former times by the monks of Melrose Abbey’. He planted trees and extended the farmhouse, which became a ‘whimsical and picturesque’ building that featured a study, dining room, armoury, conservatory and library. The armoury would later serve as the author’s ‘boudoir’. Though less extensive and picturesque than Scott’s home, Orr’s ‘Abbotsford’ was a large house with high ceilings and a wide veranda. The grounds featured pleasant shrubberies, orchards and flower gardens.


On 11 November 1850, news reached Melbourne that the separation campaign had succeeded: Britain’s parliament had passed legislation to separate the Port Phillip District from New South Wales. Just five days later, Curr died. Obituarists credited him as the Father of Separation.


In December, Curr’s trustees let out St Heliers in two parts. Robert Cole took the lower garden and paddock, while William F Lord took the house and its adjoining garden. Later in the 1850s, George Young would lease St Heliers, and Samuel Moss—an American hotelier, restaurateur and sometime playwright—would lease part of Abbotsford Estate.


Subsequent notable lessees would reportedly include Hugh Childers (Commissioner of Customs, Steam Navigation Board chairman and vice-chancellor of the University of Melbourne) and Charles W Ligar (Victoria’s surveyor general). With Robert Patterson and John Mackenzie, Orr would eventually subdivide the northern part of the estate into town lots and advertise them for sale. In the early 1860s, Mr Frederick Cooke, manager of the Melbourne Banking Company, would own and occupy Abbotsford House.
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Sue’s kitchen


FOR A BRIEF period in the 1850s—‘the golden fifties’—this Abbotsford neighbourhood between Hoddle Street and the Yarra was an exclusive one. According to the Williamstown Chronicle, prosperous woolbroker Richard Goldsbrough lived there, as did ‘some others of the upper class. It was then the Toorak of those days, but too many of the working class went out that way, and the “gentry” left.’


The neighbourhood they left behind became a zone of narrow streets, modest blocks and closely packed houses with meagre backyards. It was also known for its hotels of various vintages, and its warehouses and small factories: breweries, butcheries, tanneries, candle makers, textile workshops, soap factories. Apart from along the riverbank, public open space in Abbotsford was as scarce as private space in those cramped yards.


When the 1990s arrived, the old houses and factories were mostly still there. Abbotsford was noteworthy for its largely untouched streetscapes of Victorian and Edwardian worker’s cottages in timber and rendered brick. The neighbourhood had a demography and a flavour that had once been widespread in inner Melbourne but was now disappearing, especially in nearby Carlton and Clifton Hill, which were rapidly gentrifying.


Economically, culturally and ethnically, Abbotsford’s social geography was diverse. Retirees, families, students. People with Chinese, Greek, Italian, Vietnamese and Anglo-Australian heritage. Alongside patches of prosperity, there were pockets of poverty. Apart from professional people, there was a strong artistic, alternative and New Age presence.


Though La Trobe University owned the old convent site, it had long entertained plans to sell it. In 1994 the state government tasked the Urban Land Authority with managing the sale process. The curious history of the ULA dated back to the 1970s and an earlier incarnation as the Urban Land Council. A Whitlam Government initiative, it was conceived in 1972 and brought into being by Victoria’s Hamer Government in 1975, in response to a public scandal involving the Housing Commission and corrupt land deals.


When it was first constituted, the ULA inherited a portfolio of estates and responsibilities as well as surplus land from the government and the Housing Commission. With its new statutory mandate, it marketed land for residential and non-residential purposes and was responsible for a plethora of property developments, such as ones at Roxburgh Park, Port Melbourne and the old Hawthorn tram depot.


Wholly owned by the state government, the ULA was a public entity with official powers and direct accountability to the state parliament. But it nevertheless operated in an assertively commercial way: a public land-broker that operated more like a private stockbroker. This was the entity commissioned by the government to manage the sale of the former convent site. In 1997, the ULA called for tenders. Australand’s bid was reportedly in the vicinity of $20 million—more than double the valuer-general’s valuation. The ULA accepted Australand’s offer subject to the rezoning of the convent land for residential use.


Opposition to Planning Amendment L54 had to follow a specified process. According to that process, objections from residents had to be submitted by Christmas Eve 1997. Armed with the advice from Robyn Williams and the resolutions from the car-park meeting, the residents got moving. They stuck signs on trees and distributed information sheets outlining what was planned and the implications for the site and for Abbotsford and Melbourne more broadly. They called on their contacts. They thought and planned. And they organised.


In December 1997, an important event took place: the newly formed St Heliers Convent Action Group had its first meeting. Four people reconvened, naturally, around the kitchen table at Sue Bannerman’s house on Clarke Street: Bannerman herself, Hilary Archer (an artist), Jo Kinross (a counsellor, consultant and ‘jack-of-all-trades’) and Nigel Lewis (a conservation architect).


Others would soon join this core group, among them Charlotte Allen, Amanda Stone, Nicole Fraser, Anna Lindstad, Maryann Croatto, Margot Foster, Hilary Rankin, Hilary McPhee, Basil Natoli, Perry Snowden, Cassandra Tyler, and Greg Milne of the Children’s Farm. Lewis would bring along Tony Lee, a heritage architect, and David Ingamells, a psychiatrist.


The majority of the campaigners were women, and nearly all were tertiary educated and in their late thirties or their forties. Collectively, they represented a diverse range of occupations and backgrounds. These were the people who were determined to do something—though they weren’t sure precisely what—about the Australand proposal.


The core members of the convent campaign were all accomplished and assertive—even opinionated—but, for the most part, when they began the campaign they left their egos at the door. The first meeting around the small table set the pattern for all future gatherings: respectful, collaborative, energetic, passionate. The approach was also rigorous and professional. Right from the beginning, minutes were taken and actions and decisions recorded. This thing they were doing was only going to work if it was done properly.


From the first days of the campaign to save the convent, Kinross stood out as the residents’ de facto leader and most committed member. People inside and outside the campaign would soon be referring to her as its linchpin. Agile and courageous, she was the ‘glue’, the ‘mother superior’, the ‘helicopter’ who could grapple with different priorities and serve on multiple battlefronts at once while keeping the end in view. ‘Jo always kept her eye on the big picture,’ Lee remembered.


Detecting this ‘helicopter’ capacity in Kinross, the Age newspaper would later describe her as ‘terrier-like’. She was experienced in government, education, community development, counselling, the arts and other fields. Soon she would give up her day job to work full time, and without pay, on the campaign.


•  •  •


The residents’ concerns about the Australand development proposal had multiple facets. Fears about overshadowing from the towers. Fears about excessive traffic and loss of open space. Fears about inappropriate riverside development. And fears about loss of heritage.


In 1993, the convent buildings, along with the neighbouring Children’s Farm, had been placed on the Historic Buildings Register. The significance of the convent site was incontrovertible: it was the last remaining intact, inner-urban, nineteenth-century convent complex and landscape in the world. If the development went ahead as planned, the existing convent buildings would be transformed. New floors and new ceiling heights would obliterate their interiors, as would the removal of light wells and staircases and glass. Other layers of heritage were also at risk: traces of the early farmlets, and evidence of the much earlier and much longer ownership and stewardship by First Australians. A lot was at stake.


Lewis saw that the Australand proposal would destroy or conceal important internal features and structures. Historic convent buildings—such as Mercator and the Magdalen Laundry—would become gutted facades for new two- and four-storey blocks. He was also concerned about the loss of the convent’s unique, largely unaltered nineteenth-century rural landscape, one that in 1803 was a site of first contact with Australia’s Indigenous people, and that later became a sought-after residential location for the pioneers of the Port Phillip District.


One of the most worrying aspects of the development proposal was the loss of open space near the river. The members of the community who had made informal visits to the convent site already felt a sense of ownership over it. Now that ownership was under threat, as was the amenity that went with it. The plan to build a four-hole chip-and-putt golf course on the French Meadow felt like an especially crass trade-off. Hilary Rankin called that aspect of the Australand proposal ‘alarming’.


The loss of bike-path access was another fear. The Capital City Trail bicycle route had only recently been constructed. It ran along the river and then between the convent and the farm. Though new, it had already accumulated many users and many more supporters. But under the Australand proposal, townhouses were to be built within a few metres of the path. The development would certainly encroach upon this new thoroughfare, and some residents feared they might lose access to it altogether.


The farm, too, was at risk of encroachment. For children and families from across Melbourne, it was an inner-urban oasis, a way to experience the country in the city. The campaigners pictured a future clash between the residents of an exclusive riverside enclave and the users of a small-scale, not-for-profit, community-managed children’s farm. In such a clash, the action group feared, the farm would surely lose out.


Across inner Melbourne there were plenty of examples of how residents of new high-density developments had successfully objected to local live music venues, even though those venues had been there first and had long been a defining feature of their neighbourhoods. The prospect of a farm fight was even more daunting. Who would win in a battle over the noise—and the round-the-clock smell—of a working inner-city farm that was only metres away from residential towers and townhouses?


For the action group, there were a range of other fears and concerns that coalesced under the concept of the privatisation of public space. And when thinking about examples and precedents, the group didn’t have to look far. More than one member feared that the convent would become ‘another Willsmere’.


•  •  •


One of the largest psychiatric hospitals ever built in Australia, the Kew Lunatic Asylum—later known as Willsmere—was founded in the nineteenth century. An 1857 report by GW Vivian of the Public Works Office recommended that the asylum be built on a hilltop site near the Yarra River between Princess Street and Yarra Boulevard in Kew. Vivian described the site as:


a section of land, about 400 acres [162 hectares] in extent, situated on the River Yarra, about 4 miles [6.5 kilometres] from Melbourne, and ½ a mile to the north of the village of Kew … the site selected is a fine slope, elevated about 100 feet [30.5 metres] above the level of the river, admitting of proper drainage and admirably adapted for ornamental grounds, the aspect chosen is south-east, and during the summer months the refreshing influence of the sea-breeze will be felt, without being exposed to south-west gales.


Construction of the asylum’s buildings—in an expensive Italianate ‘high Victorian’ style—began in 1864 and was largely concluded in 1872. The main building, with its French-style mansard roofs, was later described as ‘a wedding-cake beauty’, and that is a true description. The asylum operated for more than a century, from 1871 until December 1988. In March 1978 it was placed on the Register of the National Estate due to its cultural and historical significance. A principal aspect of the main building’s architectural significance was its long facade, reportedly the longest of its type in the Southern Hemisphere.
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